I. INTRODUCTION

This action arose out of Unique Construction, Inc.'s ("Unique") failure to pay Appellant Northwest Cascade Inc. ("NWC") for construction work performed by NWC. After NWC brought suit, Unique's sole shareholders William and Suzanne Rehe ("the Rehes") gutted Unique of its assets. NWC added the Rehes as defendants, and asked the trial court to hold the Rehes *personally liable* for the debts of Unique under the equitable doctrine of corporate disregard (aka "veil-piercing"). NWC was aware of one asset transfer by Unique well before trial and added a Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act ("UFTA") claim against the transferee. However, NWC later learned of another transfer by Unique – valued at more than \$200,000 – to a Nevada LLC controlled by the Rehes. With only months left before trial, NWC was unable to join the additional transferee as a defendant.

The parties agreed that the issue of corporate disregard should be tried separately to the bench. NWC's breach of contract and UFTA issues were tried to the jury. A jury found in favor of NWC on all issues. However, the trial court subsequently ruled *against NWC*, and in favor of the Rehes, on the claim of corporate disregard.

In ruling against NWC on the corporate disregard claim, the trial court by its own admission refused to consider evidence that the Rehes

guttled the corporation of assets after the action had been filed. In addition, the trial court erroneously chose to characterize the Rehes' substantial diversion of cash from the corporation to their personal benefit as mere accounting errors. NWC assigns error to the trial court's findings, conclusions, and rulings regarding the issue of corporate disregard.

Although the Rehes *failed to segregate their attorney fees* from the fees of the unsuccessful defendants, the trial court awarded fees to the Rehes that included time spent on the unsuccessful defense of the breach of contract and UFTA claims by the other defendants. NWC also appeals this ruling.

The trial court's ruling on corporate disregard should be reversed, and the case should be remanded with direction to the trial court to enter judgment against the Rehes due to their diversion of funds and post-suit corporate gutting. In addition, the trial court's fee award to the Rehes should be reversed for its failure to provide a tenable basis for the award.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in issuing Findings of Fact 26, 34 through 39, and Conclusions of Law 5 through 12. CR 1020-1027.

The trial court erred in issuing its Order on Attorney Fees. CR 1019; CR 994-999.

The trial court erred in issuing its Judgment. CR 1028-1031.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error:

A. Before reaching a determination on corporate disregard, is a trial court required to consider evidence that a shareholder stripped a corporation of a valuable asset?

B. Does the diversion of corporate funds and assets by a shareholder to the detriment of a creditor constitute evidence of intentional use of the corporate form to evade a duty?

C. Does a creditor suffer an unjustified loss when the shareholder's corporate abuses have interfered with the creditor's ability to collect a judgment from the corporation?

D. In a request for fees, must a shareholder who successfully defended against a claim of corporate disregard, segregate the fees expended on that claim from the time spent by the same attorney on the unsuccessful defense of the corporation and other defendants on other claims?

E. May a trial court award attorney fees based upon what the successful defendant hypothetically "would have spent" had he had a separate attorney?

F. Is an award of 67% of total defense fees for an issue that occupied only 11% of trial time manifestly unreasonable?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Contract Between Northwest Cascade and Unique

William and Suzanne Rehe are the sole shareholders of Unique Construction, a general contractor; Mr. Rehe is its President. RP 3/14/12 at 32. Mr. Rehe holds both a J.D. and an M.B.A. RP 3/15/12 at 125. In 2004, Mr. Rehe began the development of a 34-lot residential real estate project (the “Rehe Plat”) in Tacoma. RP 3/20/12 at 18-19. Unique acted as the general contractor for the Rehe Plat. Ex. 4.

NWC began negotiating with Unique in the summer of 2005 to build the streets, sidewalks, and infrastructure for the Rehe Plat (Ex. 1), and entered into a subcontract with Unique in March, 2006. Ex. 4. In August, 2007, Unique stopped paying NWC’s invoices, leaving an unpaid balance of approximately \$140,000. See Ex. 5-15. NWC sued Unique in July, 2008. RP 3/20/12 at 46-47.

B. Diversion of Corporate Funds

After Mr. Rehe’s deposition revealed evidence of corporate abuses, NWC added the Rehes as defendants to hold them personally liable for Unique’s debts under a theory of Corporate Disregard. CP 996; *see also* 10/30/2009 *Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend and First Amended Complaint* (CP 1355-1356; CP1348-1354).

Unique and the Rehes were subsequently ordered to produce all their financial records. Ex. 269. These records established that between July, 2005 and October, 2007 Unique paid over \$200,000 on the Rehes' private credit card. Ex. 122. This amount included a minimum of \$27,000 worth of readily identifiable personal expenses.¹ Ex. 272 and 273. In the same time frame, the Rehes wrote checks totaling over \$20,000 for personal expenses (including medical and utilities bills), all drawn on Unique's corporate accounts. Ex. 273. Between 2006 and 2007, Mr. Rehe wrote and cashed more than \$33,000 in checks on Unique's accounts, written to "CASH", and failed to offer any evidence that the money was used for a business purpose. Ex. 273; RP 3/22/12 at 12. Further, the Rehes lived in a residence owned by Unique (the "89th Street Residence") without paying rent, resulting in an uncompensated benefit to the Rehes worth over \$96,000. Ex. 273; RP 3/15/12 at 244-246. The Rehes failed to report any of the substantial benefits they received from Unique to the IRS. RP 3/15/12 at 236-37; 253; Ex. 101. Indeed, the personal expenses were apparently treated as corporate expenses, thereby

¹ This included thousands of dollars in expenses for Mr. Rehe's "classic" car; thousands of dollars for Jenny Craig weight loss expenses; thousands of dollars spent on personal expenses from Target; thousands of dollars in medical and dental expenses, and various other expenses. These expenses were treated as business expenses of Unique (thus reducing the corporation's profits), but were never identified as dividends or as benefits to the Rehes on their personal tax returns. RP 3/15/12 at 235-249. Further, the Rehes completely failed to offer any evidence as to whether any of the other personal credit card expenses were valid business expenses.

reducing and ultimately eliminating income to the corporation, without recognizing it as income to the Rehes. All of this is reflected in Finding of Fact 29 at CP 1024.

The value of the Rehes' diversion of corporate funds totals, at a minimum, \$177,000. Ex. 273. As Mr. Pederson testified, the amount is almost certainly much higher, given the fact that many of the potential construction-related expenses on the Rehe's personal credit card but paid for by Unique were for the purpose of constructing a personal residence for the Rehes in Gig Harbor ("the Woodhill Residence"). RP 3/14/12 at 46; 3/15/12 at 235-236. Throughout this time (July, 2005 through December, 2008), the Rehes had substantial personal assets, including a stock account worth approximately \$600,000 that they could have used to pay for their own personal expenses.² RP 3/15/12 at 249; Ex. 114-15. In 2005, 2006, and 2008, Unique posted a loss of more than \$26,000. Ex. 85. The corporation's losses increased as time went on.

C. Post-Litigation Asset Stripping

In addition to the evidence establishing a consistent pattern of diversion of corporate funds and assets, NWC also established that at the time this action was filed against Unique, Unique owned two real property

² In December, 2008, the Rehes transferred all this stock to the William K and Marion L LLLP ("the LLLP"), in a transfer that the Jury concluded was undertaken with actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors. CP 408.

assets: a personal residence on 89th Street Court, and a vacant parcel on 38th Avenue³, both in Gig Harbor. CP 3/14/12 at 34.

On January 20, 2009, six months *after* this lawsuit was commenced, Unique transferred the 38th Avenue lot to a trust (controlled by the Rehes) for “estate planning purposes.” RP 3/14/12 56-62; Exs 87 and 121. The admitted purpose of the transfer establishes the undeniably personal use of the corporate property. Unique received no consideration for the transfer. RP 3/15/12, 124; Ex. 121. Six months later, on July 29, 2009, Unique transferred the 89th Street Court property to the same trust, again for no consideration. Ex. 89. In December, 2010, the two properties were again transferred, this time to separate Nevada shell companies controlled by William Rehe. RP 3/15/12, p. 101; 124.

NWC discovered the transfer of the 89th Street Residence in time to add a claim under the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA”) against current owner Sahara Enterprises LLC (“Sahara”). CP 10-20; CP 996; see also 5/13/2011 *Order Extending Preliminary Injunction* (CP 1357-1359). However, Unique’s transfer of the 38th Avenue lot (to ultimate recipient Winnemucca Ventures, LLC) was not discovered until several months before trial. Mr. Rehe had lied about this transfer at his

³ In the Report of Proceedings this is frequently referred to, erroneously, as the “38th *Street*” property.

deposition,⁴ and failed to disclose the identity of the transferee, the value of the property, or the consideration for the transfer (CP 772-773), *despite a court order compelling Unique to do so*. Ex. 269. By the time NWC discovered the transfer, service on this out-of-state LLC of a separate UFTA claim would have jeopardized the already long-delayed trial date. CP 335. Instead of adding a new party at that late date, NWC proceeded to trial on the theory that transfer of the 38th Avenue Property constituted evidence of asset stripping that further justified corporate disregard. CP 340. The parties agreed that the equitable issue of corporate disregard should be tried separately to the bench.

D. Jury Verdict in Favor of NWC

Attorney Martin Burns appeared on behalf of all defendants, including the Rehes, and *defended all claims* brought at trial. In addition, Mr. Burns brought counterclaims on behalf of Unique and Temporal. NWC successfully had these counterclaims dismissed prior to trial. CP 350-353. NWC dismissed insolvent defendant Temporal before trial. CP 405-406.

⁴ Q. What happened to the property?

A. It was transferred to another company to pay bills.

Q. What other company?

A. A Nevada company that I borrowed money from.

CP 735. Mr. Rehe never subsequently claimed that the trust was a “company that [he] borrowed money from.”

At trial, the jury rendered a verdict on behalf of NWC on all counts. CP 407-409. NWC was awarded 100% of what it requested on its breach of contract claim against Unique. In addition, the jury found that Unique transferred the 89th Street property in July, 2009 with *actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors*⁵, and the Rehes transferred personal assets to the LLLP in December, 2008, also with *actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors*.⁶ The jury rejected all of the Defendants' affirmative defenses.

E. The Trial Court's Ruling on Veil-Piercing

Even with the return of the 89th Street Residence, Unique still lacked sufficient assets to satisfy its judgment to NWC. NWC asked the trial court to find that Rehes had intentionally stripped all the assets from Unique in order to avoid its obligations to NWC, and to enter a judgment that the Rehes were jointly liable (with Unique) for the damages awarded to NWC. The trial court heard evidence outside the presence of the jury on the question of Corporate Disregard.

⁵ This transfer was to intermediate transferee Black Point Management LLC, who later transferred the Residence for no consideration to Sahara.

⁶ These findings sufficed to prove that the transfers were voidable under the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act. *See* RCW 19.40.041(a)(1). The trial court subsequently voided the transfer of the 89th Street Residence.

NWC consistently argued that the transfer of the 38th Avenue Lot constituted evidence of corporate gutting.⁷ In its Third Amended Complaint, in the section on corporate disregard, NWC alleged “William Rehe has caused [Unique]’s assets to be transferred to other entities, without consideration, and has left [Unique] devoid of assets in order to avoid potential liability.” CP 16 at ¶ 61. In its trial brief NWC argued,

Most significantly, Rehe diverted the most valuable assets of Unique – the 35th Street [sic] and 89th Street Court NW properties – to other shell companies he controlled personally, all to the detriment of NWC’s ability to recover. *Mr. Rehe gutted the corporation of its last remaining assets, leaving it unable to pay its debt to NWC.*

CP 340 (*emphasis added*).

During both the jury and bench trial portions evidence was admitted establishing the gratuitous transfer of the 38th Avenue lot. RP 3/14/12 at 52-62; RP 3/15/12 at 123-125; RP 3/15/12 190-197. In closing argument on the veil-piercing issue, NWC’s counsel again hit this point:

In addition to commingling, we have a situation where [Mr. Rehe] blatantly transferred assets out of the company -- the major assets of the company out and for no consideration, and the jury has already determined that. They obviously concluded there was no loan, and there is no evidence of any loans.

...

In addition to stripping out the 38th Street property, stripping out the 89th Street, [he] denuded the company of

⁷ This is in addition to the evidence that the Rehes had diverted substantial corporate funds for their personal benefit.

any remaining assets and now there is insufficient money to pay the obligation

RP 3/26/12 47-48. And at oral argument NWC's counsel argued the point again. CP 984.

In spite of the clear evidence and *NWC's repeated* request that the trial court to consider the transfer of the 38th Avenue property as evidence of *corporate gutting*, the trial court apparently believed that the issue of the transfer of the 38th Avenue property was only relevant to an un-pled cause of action under the UFTA, and was thus not before the court. The trial court stated:

the jury was not asked to find that the transfer of the 38th Street property was a fraudulent conveyance. No one ever previously communicated to this Court that this Court was going to be asked to determine that the 38th Street [sic] conveyance was a fraudulent conveyance. I was asked to consider the issue of piercing the corporate veil.

CP 991. See also RP 7/27/12 at 8.

The trial court was simply incorrect when it stated that it had never been asked to consider the transfer of the 38th Avenue property as part of the corporate disregard claim. It had been asked to do so repeatedly by NWC: in the Complaint, the trial brief, and in closing argument. The trial court also appeared confused about its ability, under the case law, to consider evidence of corporate gutting. CP 988-989.

As a result of this confusion and disregard of virtually undisputed evidence, the trial court wrongly found that the Rehes did not intend to evade a duty owed to a creditor, and wrongly found that any corporate abuses did not cause loss to NWC.⁸ The trial court then wrongly declined to hold the Rehes personally liable for the damages awarded against Unique. CP 1024-1027.

F. The Trial Court's Ruling on Attorney Fees

After the jury rendered its verdict and the trial court made its ruling on the issue of Corporate Disregard, NWC and the Rehes each requested fees under the Agreement between NWC and Unique. NWC based its request upon the time spent at trial on the various claims. CP 594-597; 855-871. The records maintained by the court clerk demonstrated that approximately 89% of the trial time related to NWC's successful breach of contract and UFTA claims, and that 11% related to corporate disregard. *Id.* Having won on the first two issues, and returned an asset worth potentially \$300,000 to the corporation, NWC sought 89% of its attorney fees, or approximately \$335,000. *Id.* The trial court made some reductions, but ultimately awarded fees to NWC based largely upon this proportional allocation method. CP 997.

⁸ Findings of Fact 34-39 and Conclusions 5-12 (CP 1020-1027).

In contrast, the Rehes claimed that they were *unable to segregate* the fees spent upon their single *successful* defense of the one claim (that had been tried separately) from those spent upon the *unsuccessful* defenses of the other defendants on all of the other claims tried to the jury, and made no serious attempt to do so.⁹ The Rehes sought *virtually all of the fees* that had been incurred *by all Defendants* in the case, or approximately \$130,000. CP 455-467. This included fees spent on the unsuccessful defense of Unique on the breach of contract claim, the unsuccessful defense of Sahara and the LLLP on the UFTA claims, and the unsuccessful counterclaims asserted by Unique and Temporal. The Rehes' fee request also included time spent on the defense of Temporal, although that action had been dismissed prior to trial. The request even included defense fees incurred in the 16 months *before* the Rehes were even added as defendants in this action. Counsel for the Rehes acknowledged that this fee request constituted essentially the total amount of all fees incurred by all Defendants in the litigation. RP 7/27/12 at 32.

⁹ The Rehes' current counsel made a superficial attempt that identified a handful of excludable charges. CP 466. There was *no attempt* by the Rehes' to segregate the more than \$30,000 in fees spent by the defendants' former counsel in the first two years of litigation – including 16 months in which the Rehes were not even defendants. CP 517-577.

Although the trial court applied proportional segregation with respect to NWC's fee request, it adopted a novel and legally unsupported approach to the award of fees to the Rehes:

Just so you all know what my thought process is, pretend each and every defendant had a separate attorney.

...

We're talking about an attorney is in here representing Mr. and Mrs. Rehe, and they are the prevailing party on the only claim the plaintiff had against them which is piercing the corporate veil. I need each of you to tell me what is the number that I should give in attorney's fees given that, and what is your rationale for achieving or arriving at that number.

RP 7/27/12 at 38. Counsel for the Defendants argued that. had he only been representing the Rehes,

I would have been at everything -- the same court hearings, I would have been at all the same trials, all of the same depositions.... So the vast majority of what was incurred *would have* been incurred any ways.

RP 7/27/12 at 51 (emphasis added). The trial court agreed with this position and awarded the Rehes \$85,000. RP 7/27/12 at 53.

This award compensates the Rehes for *67%* of the *fees incurred by all five defendants* even though the all of the other defendants lost and the Rehes' successfully defended only a single claim that took up only *11%* of the trial time.¹⁰

¹⁰ The Court also awarded the Rehes \$3,509 in costs. This constitutes *100%* of all of the defendants' costs for the entire case. RP 7/27/12 at 67-68.

G. Northwest Cascade's Total Recovery

Judgment was entered on behalf of NWC against Unique in the amount of \$512,322.73. CP 1038. The transfer of the 89th Street Residence was also reversed (CP 1039), leaving Unique with a single asset with an assessed value of \$327,000. Ex. 92. This left a deficiency of more than \$189,000.¹¹

The trial court did not pierce the corporate veil, despite the Rehes' admission that they transferred the 38th Avenue lot into their personal trust fund for no consideration and diverted at least another \$177,000 in corporate assets to their personal benefit. The 38th Avenue lot had an assessed value of \$253,180 at the time of transfer. Ex. 121. The Rehes were personally awarded costs and fees in the amount of \$88,509.00.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate court reviews facts underlying a trial court's decision on corporate disregard for substantial evidence. *Rogerson Hiller Corp. v. Port of Port Angeles*, 96 Wn. App. 918, 924, 982 P.2d 131 (1999). It reviews *de novo* the legal conclusions that support corporate disregard. *Id.*

The amount of an award of attorney fees is discretionary, but will be overturned when there has been an abuse of discretion. *Mayer v. City of*

¹¹ Assuming that the 89th Street Residence can be executed on and sold at the assessed value.

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