#### No. 43852-6-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

# NORTHWEST CASCADE, INC.

Appellant,

v.

# UNIQUE CONSTRUCTION, INC.; TEMPORAL FUNDING, LLC; WILLIAM REHE; JANE DOE REHE; WILLIAM K AND MARION L LLLP; and SAHARA ENTERPRISES, LLC,

Respondents.

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Martin Burns McFerran & Burns, P.S. 3906 South 74<sup>th</sup> Street Tacoma, WA 98409 (253) 471-1200 Attorneys for *Respondents/Cross-Appellants* 

March 4, 2013



#

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

CP 1025.

It is the Respondents' position that each of these findings are independently sufficient to break the requisite causal chain that NWC must prove to invoke the equitable remedy of corporate disregard. As this court is well aware, proximate causation has two components: (1) Cause in fact and (2) legal causation. *Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc.*, 98 Wash.2d 460, 475, 656 P.2d 483 (1983); *Petersen v. State, supra,* 100 Wash.2d at 435, 671 P.2d 230; *King v. Seattle,* 84 Wash.2d 239, 249, 525 P.2d 228 (1974). See also comments to WPI 15.01. "Cause in **fact**" is essentially, by definition, **factual** in nature. *See,* 16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law And Practice § 4.2 (3d ed.) footnote 3 for numerous citations to this obvious point. On the other hand, "Legal causation involves a determination of whether liability should attach as a matter of law given the existence of cause in fact. It is a much more fluid concept, grounded in policy

determinations as to how far the consequences of a defendant's acts *should extend.* Colbert v. Moomba Sports, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 43, 176 P.3d 497 (2008); Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 468, 951 P.2d 749 (1998)." As cited in 6 Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 15.01 (6th ed.) Legal causation, is logically and by definition, a legal question. Rasmussen v. Bendotti, 107 Wash. App. 947, 958, 29 P.3d 56, 62 (2001) ("It is a legal question involving logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent."). Therefore, the overall issue of proximate causation is a mixed issue of law and fact. Papac v. Mayr Bros. Logging Co., 1 Wash. App. 33, 37, 459 P.2d 57, 60 (1969) ("The problem of proximate causation is a mixed question of fact and law."). As in Papac, where Division II affirmed the finding of proximate causation based on circumstantial evidence, this court should affirm the trial court's finding of a lack of causation when there was substantial direct evidence for its decision.

#### 4. NWC could have demanded more security.

As previously cited, Division II has refused to pierce the corporate veil when the proponent failed to take normal, commercially reasonable steps to protect itself.<sup>5</sup> This is part in parcel of the causation argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Truckweld "could have protected its interest in light of what it knew about Aztec and Olsen. Yet, Truckweld made no effort to obtain Olsen's personal guaranty prior to extending credit nor did it file timely chattel liens when Aztec's payment became questionable. It was Truckweld's failure to utilize these safeguards which contributed to its losses, not any misconduct or abuse of corporate form by Olsen." (Citations omitted) *Truckweld*. at 646.

However, it goes deeper and gets to a strain of case law that has been emphasized recently by the various Washington appellate courts in the line of cases related to the economic loss rule.<sup>6</sup> While this is not an economic loss rule case per se, the same judicial reluctance to fashion remedies for contracting parties for which they did not bargain should apply. NWC is asking for the court, essentially, to give NWC a personal guaranty which it did not request at the time of contracting. NWC wants to reach through a corporation to a stock account<sup>7</sup> once owned by the Rehes (and never owned by Unique) as a source to recover against (e.g. collateral) which it did not demand when contracting. The jury found the fraudulent transfer regarding 89<sup>th</sup> Street. The trial court reversed the transfer. NWC has the ability to reach the asset subject to the avoided transfer. Why is more needed? The entire section of the Appellant Brief<sup>8</sup> confuses the doctrine of corporate disregard with the notion of avoiding transfers. One is an equitable remedy. The other is a statutory cause of action (RCW 19.40 et. NWC cites to Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wn.2d 580, 611 P.2d 751 seq.). (1980) as support of this proposition but in that case the Supreme Court actually reversed the Court of Appeals and reinstated the trial court's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "Courts should assume that parties factor risk allocation into their agreements and that the absence of comprehensive warranties is reflected in the price paid. Permitting parties to sue in tort when the deal goes awry rewrites the agreement by allowing a party to recoup a benefit that was not part of the bargain.' "*Daanen & Janssen,* 216 Wis.2d at 408, 573 N.W.2d 842 (quoting *Stoughton Trailers, Inc. v. Henkel Corp.,* 965 F.Supp. 1227, 1230 (W.D.Wis.1997))" *Alejandre v. Bull,* 159 Wash.2d 674, 687-88, 153 P.3d 864 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appellant Brief page 28, 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appellant Brief Section V. A. 1. A.

judgment that the piercing should not occur. In looking at the notion of "gutting", the Supreme Court said it **may** support piercing – not **require** it:

The corporate entity is disregarded and liability assessed against shareholders in the corporation when the corporation has been intentionally used to violate or evade a duty owed to another. *Culinary Workers v. Gateway Cafe, Inc.*, 91 Wash.2d 353, 366, 588 P.2d 1334 (1979). This **may** occur either because the liability-causing activity did not occur only for the benefit of the corporation, and the corporation and its controllers are thus "alter egos," see e. g., *J. I. Case Credit Corp. v. Stark*, 64 Wash.2d 470, 392 P.2d 215 (1964); *W. G. Platts, Inc. v. Platts*, 49 Wash.2d 203, 298 P.2d 1107 (1956); or because the liable corporation has been "gutted" and left without funds by those controlling it in order to avoid actual or potential liability, see, e. g., *Harrison v. Puga, supra*, 4 Wash. App. at 63-64, 480 P.2d 247.

(emphasis added) Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wn.2d 580, 585, 611 P.2d 751,

755 (1980). Morgan at 585 then goes on, somewhat contrary to what

NWC argues, to say that the court "must" and "could" consider the post-

tort activity in the same paragraph (emphasis added):

In the latter case particularly, post-tort activities **must** be considered, and often will independently support disregard of the corporate entity, because it is only after the tort that the impetus to "gut" the corporation arises. Thus, the Court of Appeals was correct in holding that post-tort activities **could** be considered in making the determination whether to disregard the corporate entity.

The above quotations bring up four salient points: **First**, no one has ever argued that Unique as a corporation was simply an "alter ego".

There is no support for such proposition as the Unique had existed for about two decade before ever entering into the contract with NWC. Second, the corporate form was not utilized to avoid a duty of the <u>Rehes</u>. NWC contracted with Unique - not Rehe. Third, NWC is simply wrong that the trial court did not consider the transfer of 38<sup>th</sup> Avenue. Evidence was admitted as to the transfer. (Ex. 87 and 121). Testimony including direct and cross examination of Mr. Rehe and NWC's expert was heard on the matter. Finding of Fact 22 explicitly discussed "On January 9, 2009, Unique quit claimed the 38<sup>th</sup> Street Property to Black Point which in turn transferred the 38<sup>th</sup> Street Property to Winnemucca Enterprise, LLC, another Nevada Limited Liability Company ultimately controlled by the William K. and Marion L. LLLP and the Rehes." CP 1023. Finding of Fact 25 also discussed the 38<sup>th</sup> Street Property and noted that NWC "did not name Winnemucca...as a defendant and did not include a cause of action in this lawsuit that the transfer by Unique of the 38<sup>th</sup> Street Property...was a fraudulent conveyance." CP 1023. How a party can state that the trial court failed to consider something when there are two uncontested findings of fact by the court related to such matter strains credulity. Fourth, despite the number of times NWC alleges the Rehe's "gutted" Unique by the transfer 38<sup>th</sup> Avenue, such assertion stands in stark contrast of its own expert who testified it was the transfer of the 89th Street Property, not the 38<sup>th</sup> Avenue Property, which rendered Unique insolvent RP 3/122/12 p. 3.

So where does that leave us? With a plaintiff who could have demanded more security or guarantees, with a corporation that has never been alleged to be an alter ego, with a trial court that considered the 38<sup>th</sup> Avenue transfer and actually discussed it in the findings of facts and with a transfer of the 38<sup>th</sup> Avenue Property that did not leave Unique insolvent. In short, NWC is wrong on each and every point in this argument and has to rely on a case, *Morgan*, which actually reverses the court of appeals and reinstated the trial court, which rejected the notion of piercing.

# 5. It is improper to use veil piercing to establish a fund upon which to collect a judgment.

As previously referenced, a plaintiff is not entitled to a solvent defendant. *Morgan*, at 590. NWC request to get to assets such as the stock accounts – assets never in Unique's name - simply is an attempt to create a fund upon which to collect. This is not the purpose of the doctrine of corporate disregard. Essentially, NWC is requesting the Rehes personally guaranty the Unique/NWC contract. The Court should not invoke an equitable theory in a manner not intended by law.

# B. The trial court acted within its discretion in awarding attorney fees to the Rehes for prevailing in NWC's attempts to pierce the corporate veil.

# 1. Introduction as to fee issues and basic law.

The first observation is that NWC, absent reversal of the piercing claim, does not contest that <u>an</u> award of attorney fees to the Rehes was erroneous. Nor does NWC contend the amount awarded was

unreasonable. NWC simply argues that the trial court's segregation of time (and ultimately attorney fees) was unsupported. NWC labels the trial court's decision a "manifestly unreasonable" amount despite having requested roughly 340%<sup>9</sup> of the amount the Rehes were billed and over three times the amount in controversy. NWC's assertion - that its fees are reasonable and the Rehes' fees are not - is a lesson in chutzpah.<sup>10</sup> NWC argued before the trial court that it was appropriately claiming \$460,924.02 but argued the Rehes should get approximately \$13,000. (CP 938 and See footnote 9, supra.). NWC cites to Loeffelholz v. Citizens for Leaders with Ethics & Accountability Now (C.L.E.A.N.), 119 Wash. App. 665, 689, 82 P.3d 1199, 1211 (2004), but in that case the trial court expressed displeasure with the segregation between claims that had been done by the attorneys. This never occurred in this case. In fact, the trial court expressed no dissatisfaction with the logic of the undersigned. The record is supported with the motion for fee (CP 455-62) a declaration (CP 463-577) with attached billing of 108 pages and responsive material (CP 940-949 and 1008-1012). A long hearing was had on the matter on April 27, 2012 and then again on July 27, 2012. Such hearings are part of the Report of Proceedings. The trial court went over the material carefully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Rehes requested \$135,417.20; NWC requested \$449,750.75 plus \$11,173.29. CP 467, 605, 910-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Chutzpah is defined as "1. unmitigated effrontery or impudence; gall. 2. Audacity; nerve." Dictionary.com based the Randon House Dictionary, copyright 2013. The classic definition of chutzpah was by humorist Leo Rosten being "that quality enshrined in a man, who, having killed his mother and father, throws himself on the mercy of the court because he is an orphan."

and heard substantial argument. The trial court issued a lengthy opinion letter. While NWC may not like the court's determination, NWC pled cases that were intertwined between the various defendants, requested joint and several relief (CP 19), and sought to enforce the judgment from one defendant on another defendant through veil piercing. CP 16. Unlike *Loeffelholz*, which encompassed state and federal claims regarding the remarking of ballots by the Pierce County Auditor, claims of intimidation, assault, defamation, violation of open meeting acts, jury misconduct, a JNOV, the NWC case was far more simple. NWC was alleging Unique violated a contract and that, based on notions of UFTA and piercing, that other defendants (or their assets) had to answer for such breach.

When given an chance to argue as to the allocation of time before the trial judge, NWC's counsel, in acknowledging the issue of how the claims were tied together said "There was – you know, we took a deposition of Bill Rehe going through financial records...in detail. A big part of that related to the veil piercing claim, unquestionably. Martin [Burns] is totally correct about that. However, that same discovery also lead to the discovery of the fraudulent transfer claims." RP 7/27/12 p. 40. The court (right after Mr. Murphy's discussion of how his argument regarding Unique's allocation might be low (RP 7/27/12 p. 40-41)) said in discussing the procedural timelines in which the Rehes were brought into the case said "I took great pains to go through pleading by pleading by pleading." RP 7/27/12 p. 40. The trial court, in its decision cited to its own writing (CP 994-99) and said: The quote that I put in my letter decision, 'The determination of the fee award should not become an unduly burdensome proceeding for the Court or by the parties,' I though was particularly appropriate in this case. Both counsel have indicated to this Court that it is difficult for them to segregate out what fees were incurred and which claims, and I have no reason but to accept the statements of both counsel, and if they can't segregate the fees, I can't imagine how any other Court would expect this court to segregate the fees.

RP 7/27/12 p. 52. CP 998.<sup>11</sup>

There was a segregation of time made by both counsel. NWC tried to allocate 11% of the defense time (CP 938) but acknowledged that was low. (RP 7/27/12 p. 49) The Rehes pointed out how NWC prevailed on only two of the six defendants and on two of the six causes of action and argued the case was substantially intertwined and segregated \$2,592.75 to portions clearly won by NWC claims, \$7,560.76 to clearly lost claims and \$73,210.25 to intertwined claims.<sup>12</sup> Similarly, the trial court realized there was portions clearly related to prevailing claims, to nonprevailing claims but that most of the claims interrelated and found middle ground in issuing the award. While the Rehes would have wanted a larger award, they understand that the law vests the trial court with this discretion, the record was replete with the various bills (some color coded), was replete with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In a colloquy about reporting rent on the tax returns in flow through entities, NWC's counsel again acknowledged the interrelation between the jury UFTA claim and the nonjury piercing claim saying "...that's one of those issues that flop over between both cases." RP 3/15/12 p. 161-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Understand, this was segregating the time of McFerran, Burns & Stovall, P.S., and not the \$35,699.65 of prior counsel Eisenhower and Carlson.

argument and law, and the trial court sat through all phases of the trial and post-trial activity. The trial court was in the best position to judge this and rendered a decision within the reasonable ranges of the evidence provided. Now, despite the trial court's efforts, NWC claims it erred. However, an examination of fee cases discloses the trial court did not err.

# 2. The trial court acted within its discretion.

NWC's brief glosses over the fact that this is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. "The amount of a fee award is discretionary, and will be overturned only for manifest abuse. *Bowers [v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co,* 100 Wash. 2d 581] 675 P.2d at 595–96. Fee requests may be adjusted upward or downward, and deference is awarded the trial court's decision. *Hensley v. Eckerhart,* 461 U.S. 424, 434, 437, 103 S.Ct. 1933, 1941, 76 L.Ed.2d 40 (1983)." as cited in *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.,* 108 Wash. 2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665, 682 (1987). Even in *Boeing* at 65-66, where the Supreme Court did not agree with the method of the trial court – it agreed the ultimate award "was just and equitable." Mind you, in *Boeing* the overall fee award was \$353,565.45 on a \$3,270,666 verdict. *Id.* at 68. In the present case, the trial court issued a letter ruling that went through an extensive review of the procedural history. CP 996-97. It then went through the legal basis for awarding fees and looked to the *Lodestar* factors.<sup>13</sup> CP 997-98. NWC has not argued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Washington Supreme Court in *Schmidt v. Cornerstone Investments, Inc.*, 115 Wash. 2d 148, 169, 795 P.2d 1143, 1153 (1990), refused to upset a trial court's determination on attorney fees when that trial court, similarly, had a carefully thought out

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